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Westinghouse Electric Company LLCe Westinghouse Nuclear Fuel
Columbia Fuel Site
P.O. Drawer R
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
USA

U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Direct tel: 803-647-3485
Attn: Document Control Desk, Mail Stop T2 Fl Direct fax: 803-647-2025
11555 Rockville Pike e-mail: prechtdj@westinghouse.com
Rockville, Maryland 20852-2738 Your ref:

Our ref: LTR-RAC- 11-24
March 25, 2011

SUBJECT: REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION
REFERENCE: REPORT NO: 70-1151/2010-014

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Westinghouse Electric Company LLC (Westinghouse) herein
provides a response to your letter of February 25, 2011, regarding your inspection of the Columbia Fuel
Fabrication Facility (CFFF) conducted July 26th through October 28th 2010. This response letter and the
information provided to the NRC during the predecisional enforcement conference held January 21, 2011 at
the NRC's Region II office address the referenced notice of violation.

Appendix A provides a concise response to the violations of NRC requirements specified in the Notice of
Violation (NRC Inspection Report Number 70-1151/2010-014) and further addresses the violation previously
cited in NRC Inspection Report70-1151/2009-201. The enclosed response corrects inaccurate information
provided in the NRC letter of February 25, 2011. The commitments provided by Westinghouse herein
supersede all previous open Westinghouse commitments to resolve the violation identified within NRC
Inspection Report 70-1151/2009-201.

To reiterate what was stated to NRC Staff at the predecisional enforcement conference, Westinghouse is
in alignment with the NRC regulatory position on passive design features and has institutionalized this
position to ensure compliance. Westinghouse has established robust and effective corrective actions that
are responsive to and comprehensively address these violations and will provide lasting and effective
upgrades that are risk appropriate.

The enclosed Westinghouse response is comprehensive and addresses the issues identified in NRC
Inspection Report 70-1151/2010-014, NRC Inspection Report 70-1151/2009-201 as well as the associated
event reports 46122 and 46138. Should you have any questions or require additional information, please
telephone Marc A. Rosser of my Staff at (803) 647-3174.

S' 1y

David J Precht, Plant Manager
Columbia Fuel Fabrication Facility
(License SNM- 1107, Docket 70-1151)

Attachment: Appendix A
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cc: U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Regional Administrator, Region II
Atlanta Federal Center
61 Forsyth Street, SW, Suite 23T85
Atlanta, Georgia 30303-3415

U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
One White Flint North
11555 Rockville Pike
Rockville, Maryland 20852-2738
Mail Stop: EBB 2C40M
Attn: Christopher Ryder, Project Manager

U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
One White Flint North
11555 Rockville Pike
Rockville, Maryland 20852-2738
Mail Stop: EBB 2C40M
Attn: Patricia Silva, Chief
Special Projects and Technical Support Directorate

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control
Susan E. Jenkins, Assistant Director
Division of Waste Management
Bureau of Land and Waste Management
2600 Bull Street, Columbia, SC 29201
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APPENDIX A

WESTINGHOUSE CLARIFICATION

The following statement is included in the first paragraph on page three of the NRC February 25, 2011
correspondence: "The NRC acknowledges that Westinghouse has informally provided the status of its
activities and plans regarding the previously issued violation, as well as its activities for Violation C.
As of the date of the pre-decisional enforcement conference, Westinghouse has denied that Violation
70-1151/2009-201-01 occurred and has not identified corrective actions planned or completed to
preclude recurrence."

The above is inaccurate. In docketed correspondence Westinghouse acknowledged the violation and
proposed corrective action (Reply to a Notice of Violation, Report No: 70-1151/2009-201, Westinghouse
letter LTR-RAC-10-06, January 20, 2010 3). NRC responded to Westinghouse in a docketed letter, (NRC
Letter, Dated March 30, 2010 Extension of Completion Dates Pertaining to Notice of Violation 70-1151/2009-
201-01)) stating "Both the items and completion dates of those items in your January 20 letter have not been
acknowledged by the NRC staff because the staff's review has not been completed Until the staff completes its
review, neither the items nor the completion dates of the items are acknowledged as being binding on
Westinghouse". Therefore, Westinghouse had acknowledged the violation and proposed corrective actions,
which were undergoing NRC review, prior to the pre-decisional enforcement conference

The issue which was the subject of this violation had been the topic of discussion in several public meetings
between the NRC and Industry, with Westinghouse involved as an active participant, in an attempt to reach a
common understanding of the requirement. It was the issuance of the final NRC decision on this issue (July
21, 2010 Memorandum, Summary of the June 28, 2010 Public Meeting to Discuss the use of Design Features
to meet the Performance Requirements of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations Part 70 Subpart H)
clarifying the requirement which led to Westinghouse's decision to file Event Report 46138.

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

NRC Notice of Violation (NRC Inspection Report Number 70-1151/2010-014) identified a Severity Level
III Problem (Supplement VI) consisting of three violations of NRC requirements, discussed below for
clarity as Violations A, B and C.

Violation A. Safety Condition S-1 of Special Nuclear Material License (SNM) No. 1107 requires that
material be used in accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions in the license
application dated June 27, 2007, and supplements thereto.

License Section 6.1 .1 states, in part, the Double Contingency Principle of ANSI/ANS 8.1(1998) is the
basis for design and operation ofprocesses using SNM within the Columbia Fuel Fabrication Facility
(CFFF). Double Contingency Protection means that all process designs incorporate sufficient
margins of safety to require at least two unlikely, independent, and concurrent changes in process
conditions before a criticality accident is possible.

Contrary to the above, on and before July 23, 2010, the licensee failed to establish Double
Contingency for the filter press to protect against an inadvertent criticality. Specifically, the Integral
Fuel Burnable Absorber (IFBA) filter press relied solely on a 'peg and hole' design to prevent the
introduction of additionalfilter plates, which could have led to an inadvertent criticality.

A.1. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE VIOLATION
Westinghouse acknowledges the violation as identified in Inspection Report and Notice of Violation,
Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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A.2 REASON FOR THE VIOLATION

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the reason for the violation is that the
implementation of the Integrated Safety Analysis (ISA) Handbook criteria, Section 7.2, for those events
determined to be incredible was less than adequate. Compliance with Section 7.2 of the ISA Handbook
was required by the SNM-l 107 License Application, Section 4. However, facility procedures allowed use
of passive design features of equipment to be utilized in concluding that events were incredible. Procedural
direction was that for incredible events, establishing and documenting double contingency or the
designation of Items Relied On For Safety was not necessary.

A.3 CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the IFBA filter press Criticality
Safety Evaluation (CSE) was revised to include credible scenarios, the filter press plate design
was upgraded, and the CSE revision established Double Contingency and designation of Items
Relied on For Safety prior to authorization for restart.

A.4 DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Compliance was achieved September 2010.

A.5 ACTIONS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE

The actions to prevent recurrence were presented during the pre-decisional enforcement conference and are
also summarized below in response to Violation C.

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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Violation B. 10 CFR 70.61(b) states that the risk of each credible high-consequence event must be
limited. Engineered controls, administrative controls, or both, shall be applied to the extent needed to
reduce the likelihood of occurrence of the event so that, upon implementation of such controls, the
event is highly unlikely or its consequences are less severe than those in paragraphs (b)(1)-(4) of this
section.

10 CFR 70.61(e) states, in part, that each engineered or administrative control or control system
necessary to comply with paragraphs (b), (c), or (d) of this section shall be designated as an item
relied on for safety.

Contrary to the above, on and before July 23, 2010, the licensee failed to limit the risk of a credible
high-consequence event by implementing items relied on for safety to reduce the likelihood of a
credible high-consequence event to highly unlikely. Specifically, the licensee failed to implement items
relied on for safety (IROFS) for the IFBA filter press to prevent an inadvertent nuclear criticality,
which is a high consequence event.

B.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE VIOLATION
Westinghouse acknowledges the violation as identified in Inspection Report and Notice of Violation,
Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014

B.2 REASON FOR THE VIOLATION

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the reason for the violation is that the
implementation of the Integrated Safety Analysis (ISA) Handbook criteria, Section 7.2, for those events
determined to be incredible was less than adequate. Compliance with Section 7.2 of the ISA Handbook
was required by the SNM-1 107 License Application, Section 4. However, facility procedures allowed use
of passive design features of equipment to be utilized in concluding that events were incredible. Procedural
direction was that for incredible events, establishing and documenting double contingency or the
designation of Items Relied On For Safety was not necessary.

B.3 CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the IFBA filter press Criticality
Safety Evaluation (CSE) was revised to include credible scenarios, the filter press plate design
was upgraded, and the CSE revision established Double Contingency and designation of Items
Relied on For Safety prior to authorization for restart.

B.4 DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Compliance was achieved September 2010.

B.5 ACTIONS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE

The actions to prevent recurrence were presented during the pre-decisional enforcement conference and are
also summarized below in response to Violation C.

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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Violation C. Safety Condition S-1 of SNM License No. 1107 requires that material be used in
accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions in the license application dated June
27, 2007, and supplements thereto.

Section 4.1.2 of the License Application states, in part, that the ISA "is developed in accordance with
methods acceptable to the CFFF management, as approved by the Handbook titled "Baseline ISA and
ISA Summary Handbook. "Subsection 7.2 activities are specific commitments to the NRC and must be
executed, as described, for each ISA. "

Section 7.2.3, Accident Sequence Likelihood Scoring, states in part, "For those sequences in which
this conclusion (incredible) is based on inherently safe Passive Design Feature, then the passive
engineered Safety Significant Controls (SSCs) will be designated as an IROFS, with an additional
administrative IROFS established to provide for EH&S regulatory review of all work packages issued
within the IROFS Boundary. "

Contrary to the above, on and before July 23, 2010, the licensee performed Criticality Safety
Evaluations in which a criticality accident scenario was classified as incredible based on the
dependence on SSCs, which were not designated as IROFS. Specifically, the licensee failed to
designate the peg and hole design of the filter press as an IROFS when the conclusion for the accident
scenario was determined to be incredible based on the peg and hole design feature.

C.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE VIOLATION

Westinghouse acknowledges the violation as identified in Inspection Report and Notice of Violation,
Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014

C.2 REASON FOR THE VIOLATION

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the reason for the violation is that the
implementation of the Integrated Safety Analysis (ISA) Handbook criteria, Section 7.2, for those events
determined to be incredible was less than adequate. Compliance with Section 7.2 of the ISA Handbook
was required by the SNM-1 107 License Application, Section 4 and facility procedures allowed use of
passive design features of equipment to be utilized in concluding that events were incredible, and thus not
establishing and documenting double contingency and the designation of Items Relied On For Safety.

C.3 CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the IFBA filter press Criticality
Safety Evaluation (CSE) was revised to include credible scenarios, the filter press plate design
was upgraded, and the CSE revision established Double Contingency and designation of Items
Relied on For Safety prior to authorization for restart.

C.4 DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Compliance for the IFBA Filter press was achieved September 2010. Compliance for the larger extent of
condition is addressed below.

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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C.5 ACTIONS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE

The actions to prevent recurrence were presented during the pre-decisional enforcement conference and are
also summarized below. These actions are proposed by Westinghouse to address the extent of condition
and prevent recurrence for the Severity Level III problem identified in Inspection Report and Notice of
Violation, Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014 AND for Inspection Report and Notice of Violation, Report
Number Notice of Violation, Report No: 70-1151/2009-201. These specified actions also address Event
Notifications 46122 and 46138.

" Uranium Recovery and Recycling System (URRS) filter press replaced with safe geometry
centrifuge (CSE established credible scenarios, double contingency & IROFS). [Complete
November 2010]

" Incorporated findings and lessons learned from event and causal analysis into training case studies
for Nuclear Safety Qualification Training, Environmental Health and Safety (EH&S) Certification
Training, Knowledge Worker and Operations Human Performance training, as appropriate.
[Complete December 2010]

" Evaluated extent of condition relative to other passive engineered features used in incredible
scenarios. [Complete August 2010]

" Evaluated our posture pertaining to incredible scenarios and made the decision to file an additional
event report for non-compliance with regulations in July 2010.

" Restored Compliance for Extent of Condition [Complete July 2010]
" Issued a policy to designate all passive SSCs in incredible scenarios as 1ROFS, and
" Designated Facility Walkthrough Assessments (FWAs) as IROFS to address double

contingency. FWAs were already a License Condition.
" A license amendment submittal was generated to address issues related to the definitions in the

currently approved SNM-1 107 License Application and ISA methodology and to propose the
completion of NCSIP-II (title chosen for program) as a License Condition.

" NCSIP-II CSE development is proceeding with a commitment to be completed prior to January
2013 ISA summary submittal to NRC. Note that this date is subject to timely NRC review and
approval of the license amendment, and concurrence of the actual date will be addressed as part of
the license amendment.

The license amendment was submitted by Westinghouse letter LTR-RAC-10-85, December 15, 2010
and accepted for review by NRC letter January 24, 2011 (TAC No. L33069)

As part of NCSIP-II, the previous incredible scenarios will be converted to credible scenarios with
double contingency in place and appropriate IROFS identified EXCEPT in those cases where the
scenario description meets the strict definition of incredible submitted with the license application.
This work will be completed as part of the NCSIP-II, which is currently scheduled to be complete
prior to the January 2013 ISA summary submittal to the NRC. Quarterly status reports to the NRC on
progress towards completion are planned.

As required by your February 25, 2011 letter, Figure 1 below provides the current status of the NCSIP-
II program and a chart is provided which proposes interim milestones for the program. Westinghouse
considers the information provided to constitute the first quarterly report discussed at the pre-
decisional enforcement conference and proposed in our license application.

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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NCSIP2 Key Performance Indicator
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION

NRC Notice of Violation (NRC Inspection Report Number 70-1151/2010-014) identified a Severity Level
IV Violation (Supplement VI) discussed below as Violation D.

Violation D. Safety Condition 5-1 of SNM License No. 1107 requires that material be used in
accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions in the license application dated June
27, 2007, and supplements thereto.

Section 3.4 of the License Application states, in part, that operations to assure safe, compliant
activities involving nuclear material are conducted in accordance with approved procedures.

Licensee Procedure RA-108, Safety Significant Controls, Section 6.1.5, states that whenever
components associated with SSCs are observed to be defective, the controlled operation shall be
terminated until appropriate controls can be temporarily instituted Section 6.1.6 requires that SSCs
that fail to perform their intended finction thru normal operation or verification activities, shall be
immediately reported to Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) and the area engineer.

Contrary to the above, on and before July 23, 2010, the licensee failed to conduct operations to assure
safe, compliant activities involving nuclear material in accordance with approved procedures.
Specifically, the licensee operated the IFBA filter press without an approved procedure that instructed
the operators that in the event of missing filter plate pegs, the operation should be shut down and
notifications made to EH&S. On July 22, 2010, operators observed the IFBA filter plate pegs were
missing and placed the filter press into service. The missing filter press plate pegs were designated as
a SSC to prevent an inadvertent nuclear criticality accident and prior to the filter press being placed
back into service, EH&S and the area engineer were not notified that the SSC had failed

D.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE VIOLATION
Westinghouse acknowledges the violation as identified in Inspection Report and Notice of Violation,
Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014

D.2 REASON FOR THE VIOLATION

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, the procedure was inadequate because checks
of the filter press design and assembly were not identified as being necessary for this operation. This was
an assumption that Westinghouse did not validate.

D.3 CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

The applicable IFBA operating procedure was revised to implement Double Contingency with
IROFS as part of the revised CSE implementation and includes following attributes:

* Operator verification of number of plates when filter press is opened and immediately
prior to filter press being closed.

* Inspection of filter press pegs to determine if any are loose.
* Manager and process engineer verification of number of plates when filter press is opened

and immediately prior to filter press being closed.
* Manager and process engineer verification of filter press plate design and dimensions

prior to initial installation after procurement.
* A new form was created to document these inspections.

WESTINGHOUSE NON-PROPRIETARY CLASS 3
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D.4 DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Compliance was achieved August 2010.

D.5 ACTIONS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE

The procedure review and approval process mandate the necessary reviews and approvals for any changes
and the Criticality Safety function is required to ensure procedural steps for double contingency remain as
required by the governing CSE. Thus, the normal procedure review and approval process will preclude
removal these Safety Significant Controls (SSCs) which are now identified within the operational
procedure and not just a referenced sketch. Designation of SSCs further ensures the reporting
requirements of RA-108 are followed, as the operational staff will be aware of the safety significance.
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION

NRC Notice of Violation (NRC Inspection Report Number 70-1151/2010-014) identified a Severity Level
IV Violation (Supplement VI) discussed below as Violation E.

Violation E. Safety Condition 5-1 of SNM License No. 1107 requires that material be used in
accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions in the license application dated June
27, 2007, and supplements thereto.

Section 3.4 of the License Application states, in part, that operations to assure safe, compliant
activities involving nuclear material are conducted in accordance with approved procedures.

Licensee Procedure TA-500, Columbia Manufacturing Plant Configuration Control, states, in part,
the requirement for the close-out after a project has been implemented, including the update of
drawings.

Contrary to the above, on and before July 23, 2010, the licensee closed out a project without updating
IFBA filter system design drawing 807FO4EQ02. Specifically, IFBA filter system design drawing
807FO4EQ02 was not updated to indicate that the pegs in the IFBA filter press plate were replaced
without the all purpose P VC glue.

E.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE VIOLATION
Westinghouse acknowledges a violation occurred, but not as explicitly stated in Inspection Report and
Notice of Violation, Report Number: 70-1151/2010-014. Westinghouse does not agree that a project was
initiated [i.e., no Configuration Change Form (CCF) was processed] that would have resulted in the
drawing change that is implied in the violation as stated.

The wording in the February 25, 2011 Notice of Violation (NRC Inspection Report Number 70-
1151/2010-014) differs from the wording discussed at the predecisional enforcement conference. This
revised wording implies that if TA-500 had been followed and the drawings updated, the EH&S review
staff and Engineering Staff would have approved such a significant change to the filter press plates. It is
not likely that the engineering review or EH&S review performed for configuration changes would have
authorized such a revision prior to this event as the "glue" was clearly a safety attribute originally designed
to ensure the peg and hole passive design would satisfy its safety related function.

E.2 REASON FOR THE VIOLATION

As stated during the pre-decisional enforcement conference, Westinghouse agreed with the proposed
wording from the apparent violation: "The licensee failed to make a change to facility equipment in
accordance with procedure TA-500. Specifically, the pegs in the IFBA filter press plate were replaced
without glue, which deviated from the system design drawing requiring the pegs to be glued into the peg
holes with PVC glue." The "knowledge gap" which contributed to this field performance issue was
predicated by the "incredible" determination made in the CSE.

E.3 CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED

The filter press plates were restored to compliance per an upgraded design and criticality safety
control requirements. Multiple configuration control verifications were added to the applicable
IFBA procedure. Documentation of the configuration control verifications is now accomplished
via a new form created to complement the procedure changes.
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E.4 DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Compliance was achieved August 2010.

E.5 ACTIONS TO PREVENT RECURRENCE

NCSIP-II improvements will eliminate the configuration control confusion that can be associated
with incredible scenarios. Implementation will include evaluation of labeling and identification
of IROFS and SSCs in the field to address "knowledge gap."
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